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Chemistry classes were held in University Hall from 1843 to 1872, then

The department moved across

to 1894.

in The Scientific Building from 1872

the quadrangle to the chemistry building in the Fall of 1894.
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INTRODUCTION

The University catalogs of 1843 to 1910 have been the principal source
of information relative to the early development of the chemistry department.
Some useful data were found in Frank Stephens' "History of the University of
Missouri." Records of departmental meetings were begun in 1910 and furnish
data from that time to the present.

For the most part, names of faculty members are not given unless they
played an important role in the establishment and growth of the chemistry
department.

I. 1843 - 1876

Officially, the University of Missouri was established in 1839, but the
first catalog was not published until 1843. These early catalogs did not
contain descriptions of courses but merely Tisted the "courses of study" and
the faculty. The very limited curriculum was that of a liberal arts college
of that era, with much emphasis on classical languages and also on mathe-
matics. Until 1868, with one exception, the faculty were medical doctors
and divided their time between teaching the natural sciences and medical
subjects. The president had an LLD.

At the time the bill for the charter of the university passed the legis-
lature, Columbia College, (not the present Columbia College) was made a
branch of the university and was soon absorbed into this institution. One of
their three faculty members was listed as a professor of chemistry.

From 1843 to 1860, in the descriptions of the course of instruction,
chemistry along with the other sciences is variously listed for the first
term of the junior class, both terms of the senior class, or the second and
third terms of both the junior and senior class.

The two terms or sessions as they were called at that time were twenty
one weeks at first and later were changed to three sessions of fourteen weeks.
Apparently only one daily period during the week was devoted to the natural
sciences, so one wonders how much material could be covered in one to three
terms.

In 1843, Dr. E. H. Leffingwell, a medical doctor, was listed as pro-
fessor of chemistry, mineralogy, geology, botany, natural history, and physi-
ology. Except for 1849-50, he was associated with these sciences until 1852,
but the subjects listed after his name varied somewhat from year to year.



According to E. F. Stephens' "History of the University of Missouri",
Leffingwell, who graduated from Yale in 1822, was the first professor of
chemistry. He had had considerable experience in teaching the physical
sciences and in giving popular lectures in chemistry.

During 1845-1847, the catalogs mention lectures on natural philosophy
(physics) and chemistry with the use of apparatus, or as stated later, with
experimental illustrations. Classes were held in University Hall, finished
in 1843. The columns were part of that building. The statement "Examinations
will be publicly holden of all classes at the close of the session" first
appeared at that time and is repeated in some subsequent catalogs.

In 1852, Leffingwell was replaced by George C. Swallow, who is listed as
Professor of Chemistry, Mineralogy, Geology, Physiology and Anatomy. He had
a Masters degree. He also was interested in agriculture. He resigned in
1852 to become the first State Geologist, but returned to the University in
1857 with his original title, which in 1860 became Professor of Natural
Science and Agriculture. Later he became the first Professor of Agriculture
and the first Dean of Agriculture. Many years later, Swallow Hall was named
for him. In 1857, Chemistry and Cognate Branches is Tisted under Departments
of Instruction, with the following comments: Dr. Locke (an M. D.) has exer-
cises with the senior class. "While he relies to some extent on text books,
he communicates the major part of his instruction by lectures accompanied by
experiments. The laboratory is furnished with an extensive apparatus which
enables the professor to render his lectures very complete and satisfactory."

Changes came about in 1859-60 and thereafter. After the legislature of
that year had removed the Board of Curators and vacated the chairs of the
faculty of the university, they appointed a new Board for the purpose of
reorganizing the institution. Among the changes was the designation of the
chairman of a department. Swallow had left, and J. G. Norwood, a M.D.,
was the Professor of Natural Science and Natural Philosophy. These subjects
were taught in the junior year.

In 1861, we find that the first term of the junior year is devoted to
physics and the second term entirely to inorganic chemistry. The latter is
"taught by lecture, every principle is elucidated by experimental illustration,
for which the apparatus belonging to the institution is very complete. Fownes
"Chemistry" is the class book, with Gmelin's "Chemistry" and Abel and Bloxam's
"Handbook of Chemistry" as books of reference.



In the senior year, there is "instruction in Organic Chemistry and
Chemistry as Applied to Arts and Agriculture, Mineralogy and Geology,

Natural History including the Principles of Zoology and Botany, together
with Anatomy and Physiology".

The Civil War disrupted all of the University activities. Then in
1867-1869 we find chemistry in a Department of Physics and Natural Sciences,
with this description: "Al1l of the second semester of the Junior year is
devoted to the chemistry of the non-metallic elements."

"The laboratory is very extensive and every effort is made to render
the course of instruction in this branch equivalent to that given in the
very best colleges in this country. The principles of the science are
abundantly illustrated by experiments. The supply of reagents is ample and
specimens of chemical products are nearly all that could be desired."

"Throughout the entire course, the application of chemistry to Agri-
culture, Manufacturing and Mechanical pursuits and to Pharmacy is constantly
brought before the students in connection with each element and its compounds.
Special attention is paid to Toxicology. Every mineral poison is studied, so
far at least as to the tests for its presence and appropriate antidotes are
concerned. This is valuable for those who intend to study Law or Medicine."

The Senior year is devoted during the first part of the session to the
chemistry of the metallic elements and afterward to Natural History.

In 1865, we are stiil in the Department of Physics and Natural Science,
with the following description: "The course of instruction is given to
regular junior and senior classes together with such irregular studnets as
may elect to pursue scientific studies in connection with English courses and
to the exclusion of purely classical studies".

"The time devoted to each branch of science is as nearly as possible
commensurate with its practical importance".

"The remainder of the first and all of the second semester of the junior
year is devoted to the chemistry of the non metallic elements. The first
part of the senior year is devoted to the chemistry of the metallic elements."

"The plan of instruction in elementary chemistry has been by lecture,
combined with recitations from some "Manual" (or class book). Such a method
exercises the memory of the pupil but gives him Tittie or no work to do for
himself. To remedy this, a small treatise "Experimental Exercises and Problems"
has been prepared."



"Provision will be made by the professor of analytical chemistry to
accomodate any number of students. A1l who enter will be required to
furnish their own platinum and reagents."

The next year there is this added comment: "Each student is required
to take notes of every lecture delivered to his class and write out in é
suitable book during the evening as complete and accurate a report of the
Jecture and its illustrations as his abilities and knowledge of the subject
will enable him to make. The book is handed in to the teacher who makes
corrections and returns it to the students for study". By 1872, chemistry
is in the Department of Natural Science where it is Tlisted until 1876. The
description of the curriculum is similar to ones of previous years, with a
few additions such as this: "The courses are given in accordance with modern
doctrine."”

"Throughout the entire semester, the applications of chemistry to the
arts, manufacturing pursuits, agriculture and pharmacy are constantly brought
before the student in connection with each element and its compounds."

"The junior year is devoted to the study of the metals and their compounds,
together with qualitative analysis and organic chemistry."

Prior to 1872, most of the classes had been taught in University Hall,
the first classroom building of the campus. This structure, which was the
same size as the center section of the present Jesse Hall, included the well
known columns.

The Agricultural College was established in 1872. Swallow, whose main
interests were agriculture as well as geology, was named Professor of Agricul-
ture in 1871, and in his report to the President of the University, he states:
"One of the first wants of an agricultural college is a laboratory for chemical
analysis. Chemistry is the very grammar of natural science."

"The erection of a science building is the first step in our progress. It
is to be after the laboratory of the Michigan Agricultural College but improved
and enlarged. On the ground floor it will contain the chemistry laboratory
both general and analytical, a lecture room and other necessary apurtenances."

"The towers, which are not designed to be costly, have purposes of indi-
spensible use and will give to the building a fine and even imposing effect."

In another section of the catalog, we find that "chemistry first of all,
is the foundation of all accurate knowledge - practical. There is nothing that

challenges the intelligence of the industrial man that can be fully understood



without it. Soils, plants, animals, paints, dyes, fertilizers, all food,
all nature are founded on chemical principles." '"Next to chemistry for
practical utility I would place the physiology of vegetables."

The building requested by Swallow was constructed during 1871-72 at
a cost of $45,507.00 without equipment and was designated first as The
Scientific Building, then the Agriculture Building and much Tater as
Switzler Hall. Chemistry occupied the first floor, agriculture the second
floor and the other sciences the third floor.

In 1873, there is this statement: "A Department of Analytical and
Applied Chemistry is just opened in charge of Professor Paul Schweitzer
who has had instruction and experience in the best laboratories of Europe
and America. The Laboratory Hall is one of the best equipped and most
complete in the country, and is adequate to the nicest and most delicate
operations. Students preparing to become druggists and professors of
chemistry will be received and afforded every advantage of scientific
instruction and laboratory practices."

"It is intended that this laboratory shall be eminently a state
institution affording the means and equipment for the analyses both quali-
tative and quantitative of water, minerals, clays, ores, and soils of this
great mineral and agricultural state". "The professor will largely spend
his time in the work and superintendence of the laboratory and in the
execution of private and state analyses.” '

The laboratory facilities are described in some detail. "The lower
floor of the Scientific Building is furnished in the most approved style,
affording the students all of the means which science commands for acquiring
a thorough knowledge of analytical chemistry, both qualitative and quantitative
and offering facilities in chemistry not equaled anywhere else in the state.
There is ample provition for ventilation, a very important item in the construc-
tion of a laboratory". '

Qualitative analysis is taught by lecture and blackboard exercises and
the student is required to repeat at his table in the laboratory all the exper-
iments performed by the Professor. Then he is given a simple unknown. Finally
he is able to determine the composition of the most complex and difficult mix-
tures. Use is made of the spectroscope as often as needed.



After written and experimental examinations, he passes on to quanti-
tative analysis, where he analyzes coal, limestone, ores, etc. There is
also a course in applied chemistry which includes such topics as candles,
oils and lamps, glass, soaps, etc.

In 1874, the departments of the University were organized into divi-
sions, the first one of which was designated "The College" with Natural
Science as one of the departmentswith Norwood in charge. The course in
science led to a B.S. degree. In the catalog, there are these statements:
"Instruction is given to regular sophomore and junior classes and such
irregular students as may desire to study physics and chemistry in lieu
of some branch in regularly organized courses". ‘

"The last half of the semester is devoted to the first lines of
general chemistry, including chemical nomenclature, symbolic notation,
stochiometry, affinity or chemism and chemical philosophy generally. In
the first part of the course, great use is made of the blackboard in con-
nection with a volume of problems especially prepared for the use of classes
of this institution". Two pages of sample examinations in general chemistry
are included.

The junior year is devoted to the study of metaloids, metals and their
compounds, together with organic chemistry. Qualitative qna]ysis will be
given to members of the class qualified to receive it, by the professor of
analytical chemistry.

By 1875, "Recently large and valuable accessions have been made to
apparatus for illustration and experiments in physics, chemistry, etc. by
purchase of rare and costly pieces so that for its extent it is hardly sur-
passed in the United States. The appointments in this respect would be re-
garded as honorable in any scientific institution in the world."

II. 1876 - 1894

Chemistry was 1isted in the Department of Natural Science until 1876,
when the various departments within the University were organized under the
general heading Schools of the University, with chemistry under the Academic
Schools.

The chemistry courses, taught by Schweitzer, consisted of phenomenal
chemistry, rational chemistry, and the laboratory. For convenience, a later
and more detailed description of the content of the first two courses is

given here.
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1. Phenomenal Chemistry. This is an elementary course in chemistry
following a suitable text book and consists mainly in recitations illustra-
ted as far as practicable by experiments and diagrams. The writing of
reactions, calculating of quantities by weights and volumes, determining
changes of volumes of gasses through changes in temperature and pressure
and establishing formulas upon proper physical facts, accompany the work
throughout. The course is designed to be complete within itself and while
giving the students the facts and formal principles of the science, to serve
at the same time as an introduction to the study of rational chemistry,
taught later. This course was required of all students except those in Taw.

2. Rational Chemistry. The course in rational chemistry is a continu-
ation of phenomenal chemistry on a broader basis, illustrated by experiments
and specimens, interspersed with occasional recitations, reviews and discus-
sions; but while that is mainly descriptive of the phencmena presented to our
senses, this is inductive leading to their explanation through modern philo-
sophical thought and explanation. Toward the middle of the semester, selected
topics from the domain of organic and applied chemistry are discussed."”

During 1876-77, Schweitzer asked for "a permanent Tecture room adapted
for the purpose and within easy reach of the laboratory."

He said: "I am engaged in class work for two hours a day part of the
year and three hours a day part of the year instructing in the laboratory
personally. In addition tc teaching, I have to handle about 6,000 pieces of
equipment, of which I must keep account, and provide ahead for special chemicals
needed by the students." "The apparatus belonging to the department of chem-
istry which was turned over to me by Norwood consisted of only two old gas
holders and a dozen or more of bell jars and feet-glasses". "It will require
thought and ingenuity to do justice to the subject with this means". There
were 35 students in the course titled The Laboratory, 7 in applied chemistry
and 14 in general chemistry.

There were no significant changes in the descriptions of the five chem-
istry courses for the next four years. The total enrollment increased from
56 in 1876-77 to 100 during 1879-80.

In 1881, a new course "Domestic Chemistry" was added. "A course of
lectures on domestic chemistry'to be delivered to students who intend to
graduate into the girls' course in arts, will be given in the coming year.

It is intended to teach the principles of household science, a right under-
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standing of which determines so largely the health, comfort and happiness
of the human family." Topics to be included were air, water, food, and
cosmetics.

In 1881-82, there is an additional statement to the effect that:
"The full course in qualitative analysis is required of all who propose in
science, civil engineering and medicine" and in an abreviated form of all
candidates for other degrees. There is a 1ist of analyses to be carried
out by students taking courses in science and civil engineering, plus six
additional analyses for agriculture students.

The enrollments in the courses for that year were as follows:

102 in Phenomenal Chemistry 32 in Toxicology
69 in Rational Chemistry 71 in The Laboratory
2 in Domestic Chemistry 34 in Qualitative Analysis

5 in Agricultural Chemistry 25 in Qualitative Analysis
12 in Quantitative Analysis

In the 1888-89 catalog, two new courses appear: Thermo Chemistry and
Thermodynamics, offered by an assistant who had a Ph.D. degree. The text
was in French "Thermodynamique et ses Applications". Calculus was required.
By 1892, no students had registered for the courses and they were dropped.

In 1894, the chemistry courses were reorganized, most of the old names
were dropped, and the courses were assigned the conventicnal titles as we
now know them.

The chemistry quarters in the Agriculture Building (Switzler Hall)
were over crowded, as Schweitzer noted: "One of the most important needs of
a university is a separate building for a chemical laboratory, now so inti-
mately associated with the Agriculture Department. This want arises not only
from the inadequacy of the present accomodations to meet the increasing de-
mands made upon this department, but also from the danger to the health of
the students occupying the same building, arising from the noxious gases
generated in the laboratory. This is a convenience provided in nearly every
jnstitution in the country where practical and analytical chemistry is made
a part of the course."

In January of 1892, fire destroyed the main building of the University,
where the columns now stand. In the following year, the legislature approp-
riated $250,000.00 for the construction of six buildings around the quandrangle
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on the west campus, of which $204,651.00 was used in 1893-94. The sum
for chemistry was $28,000.00, which did not include equipment.

These buildings housed law, chemistry, biology and geology, physics
and engineering, manual training and the power plant. According to Calvert,
the plans for these structures were selected from a book of plans for college
buildings. This collection did not include one specifically designed for
chemistry, so the architect did some adapting. Perhaps that is one reason
for the ventilation problems. For example, there were two hoods with no
opening into a ventilating shaft, and one shaft in a basement laboratory had
been blocked off with masonry about a foot above the opening.

From the time Schweitzer came here in 1872 until 1891, he alone or with
first one and later two assistants taught all of the chemistry courses. 1In
1891, the staff was increased to two professors and one instructor, in 1900
to two professors and two instructors. The number of professors remained at
two until 1905, when Schlundt was advanced from instructor to assistant
. professor.

In those days, there were only two professorial ranks: assistant pro-
fessor and professor. The rank of associate professor was added at a later
date.

ITI. 1894 - 1910

Schweitzer left the chemistry department in 1893 tc become Professor of
Agricultural Chemistry and Dean of the College of Agriculture. He was replaced
in 1894 by H. B. Gibson as professor of chemistry. That same year Sidney
Calvert, an organic chemist, joined the staff as assistant professor.

Thus during 1894-95, the chemistry faculty included two professors and
one instructor. Gibson died in October of 1895 and Schweitzer returned to
help out in the department for the remainder of the year.

William G. Brown replaced Gibson in 1896 as professor of chemistry and
apparently was the chairman of the department until 1970. In 1895-96, the
department offered ten courses and the staff taught in which ever course they
were needed. For example, Calvert is listed from time to time in chemical
theory, qualitative and quantitative analysis, carbon compounds, history of
chemistry, and general chemistry. One wonders how they decided on their
teaching schedules.
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Requirements for graduate degrees as we know them today were first
officially formulated by the University faculty in 1892, with the broad
requirement of one year of graduate study for a Masters degree and at
least three years for a Ph.D.

The graduate program of the University was formally organized in
1896 as The Graduate Department, which became the Graduate School in
1911. .

Graduate study in chemistry was first listed in the 1897-58 catalog
in The Graduate Department, under Brown. The specified areas were History
of Chemistry and Chemical Philosophy, Advanced Quantitative Analysis,
Advanced Organic Chemistry and Physical Chemistry.

By 1900, some chemistry courses were designated for both undergraduates
and graduates and some for graduates. Research was listed a course in the
areas of inorganic, organic and physical chemistry, presumably under the
direction of either Brown or Calvert.

The period 1900-1910 was one of gradual growth and expansion. A few
courses were dropped and were replaced by new courses as needed to keep up
with the times.

Calvert spent a sabbatical leave at the University of Freiburg during
1901-02. He and Brown comprised the chemistry faculty at the professorial
level from 1896 until Schlundt, who came as an instructor in 1902, was
advanced to assistant professor in 1905. Scme of the instructors remained
with the department for several years but were not advanced. There were a
few teaching assistants.

James A. Gibson was added to the staff as an instructor in analytical
chemistry in 1907. 1In 1912, he was advanced to assistant professor, then to
professor in 1917 and remained with the department until 1919.

In 1908, the College of Arts and Science was reorganized by Divisions,
with chemistry in the Division of Mathematical and Physical Sciences, where
-it remained until this system was abandoned in 1918. There was nothing in
the catalogs to indicate who was the chairman of a department, but in chem-
istry it was 1likely that Brown acted in that capacity, perhaps until 1910.

By 1910, the department Tlisted twenty nine courses, but there were still
only three men of professorial rank, Brown, Calvert and Schlundt, until Gibson

was advanced in 1912.
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The first Masters degrees were awarded in 1909 to Merle Randall
(Thesis: A Comparison of Some Standards of Radioactivity) with Schlundt,
and Webster N. Jones (Thesis: Some Methylene Condensations) with Calvert.
Randall subsequently received a Ph.D. from the University of California
and became not only a well known physical chemist on their faculty, but
as co-author of the widely used text book of thermodynamics by Lewis and
Randall. |

Jones received a Ph.D. from Harvard University, then taught until
1918. After military service, he went into industry until 1932 when he
became Dean of the College of Engineering and Science, Carnegie Institute
of Technology, until he retired in 1956. It was said that he was offered
the presidency of the University of Missouri in 1935 to succeed President
Williams.

IV. 1910 - 1938

In the Spring of 1910, Schlundt began to keep minutes of departmental
meetings, which are a source of many interesting details. The records for
1916-1930 have been lost, except for 1925-1927, but are otherwise compiete
to date.

In April of 1910, there was an order by the Executive Board which
provided for the reorganization of the Department of Chemistry. This order
read as follows:

1. That no permanent head of the department or director of the labora-
tories be longer maintained, but that instead a more democratic organization
of the chemistry faculty be established with the appointment annually by the
Executive Board of the Board of Curators of a chairman of the chemistry
faculty and a director of the chemical laboratories, the chemistry faculty to
consist of all the professors and assistant professors in the department.

2. That from this date until September 1st, 1911, Professor Herman
Schlundt be chairman of the chemistry faculty with the right to submit to
the President and the Board the recommendations of that faculty, and with
the approval of the majority of the faculty to organize the courses of study
and assign work to the several professors and instructors in the department.

3. That from this date until September 1st, 1911, Professor Sidney
Calvert be director of the chemical laboratories with the responsibility of
ordering supplies and apparatus, in accordance with the wish of the chemistry
faculty as expressed by a majority vote of that faculty.
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4. That from this date on, the titles of Professors Calvert and
Schlundt remain as heretofore, and that the title of Dr. W. G. Brown be
Professor of Technical Chemistry.

The circumstances which led to this directive are not known.

In the University catalogs at that time and until recently, it was
customary to place the name of the chairman of a department first in the
list of faculty members, no matter how small the department. On this basis,
up to 1910 Dr. Brown had been chairman since he came in 1896.

In spite of the 1910 directive, Schlundt was chairman of the department
until his death in 1937, and Calvert was Director of the Laboratories until
his retirement in 1939.

The faculty during 1910-1916 consisted of the above professors, and
Gibson, an instructor who was later advanced to assistant professor, plus
one to three instructors who apparently were on temporary appointments.

For the most part, the staff meetings were devoted to routine discussions
of such topics as the purchase of chemicals which at that time were mostly ‘
imported from Germany, apparatus, scheduling of courses, and the hiring of
assistants, etc. Occasionally, there were other problems, as indicated by
this letter from the university librarian:

"I beg to inquire whether the chemical faculty are considering the matter
of removing the chemical library from its present position. The room (on the
first floor next to the northeast corner of the building) in which the books
are stored is dirty and unattractive. In fact, it is such a dirty place that
I cannot ask one of my young lady assistants to go there for the purpose of
checking the books. It is also a damage to the books and is not a fit place
for a man to sit down to study. Will you kindly ask your faculty whether they
would consider the removal of the library to the main library or to some room
on the second floor as we talked of a couple of years ago. I am not at all
satisfied with the present arrangement."

This matter was left to the Director of the Laboratories for adjustment
with the Librarian, who agreed that a room on the second floor of the chem-
istry building, was a suitable place for the library. Later this room was
used both as the library and as the main office for the building until about
1940.

The increasing enrollments in chemistry courses were again exceeding the
laboratory space available, and in September of 1910, additional desks were
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needed for 46 students. Calvert and Trowbridge (Director of the Agriculture
Experiment Station) were to work out details for space for these students in
the new Agriculture Building (Waters Hall). During 1910-1911, the enrollment
in chemistry courses averaged 425 students each semester.

Earlier, the staff had agreed to turn away students when the capacity of
the laboratories was reached, but they concluded that finding space for them
was necessary. Taking students to another building meant additional expend-
itures for apparatus from funds not authorized by the President. In October,
they received $150.00 for the purchase of supplies for lockers in the Agri-
culture Building.

In 1911, the staff voted to ask to have a telephone installed in the
building. It was located in the storeroom rather than in the departmental
office to avoid usage by students. It remained there until the early 1930's
when a surprising amount of red tape was required to secure permission to
move it to the main office.

The courses in Technical Chemistry and Industrial Chemistry were reor-
ganized. Both were taken mainly by engineering students and were the fore-
runners of a curriculum in chemical Engineering. .

A course in advanced physical chemistry required a reading knowledge of
French and German.

By June of 1911, Trowbridge had had second thoughts about having chem-
istry students in the Agriculture Building and cancelled the agreement of the
previous Fall. Schlundt then discussed with Deans Mumford (Agriculture) and
Jackson (Medicine) the possibility of securing desks in the Agronomy labora-
tories or in the medical building (McAlester Hall).

Other ideas to solve the space problem within the chemistry building were
to place the analytical balances on tables in the first floor halls, and that
the professors give up some of their personal office space. These suggestions
were not implemented, but a partition was installed in the hall on second floor
to form a room, which later was converted into a research laboratory, and still
later into a chemistry library.

In September of 1911, Schlundt reported that he had negotiated an agree-
ment for a large portion of a room on the third floor of the Veterinary Build-
ing (Eckles Hall), for which 72 lockers would be provided by November 1. The
equipment and installation were paid for by a special grant of $309.00.
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In the Fall of 1911, the staff discussed the desirability of extending
the electrical wiring of the chemistry building to include all rooms and
corridors. This would be expensive ($300.00) so it was agreed to wire only
a balance room and that the corridor on second floor be Tightened with a gas
fixture. These gas lighting fixtures remained connected in all the labora-
tories and offices in the building until it was rehabilitated in the early
1940's.

In December of 1911, Schlundt, Calvert and Brown met with Trowbridge
to discuss the possibility of allowing the chemistry department to use space
in the new building (Schweitzer Hall) which was in the planning stage for
Agricultural Chemistry.

After conferences with Trowbridge and an exchange of letters with
President Hill during December and January, it was finally agreed that all
of the work in general chemistry should be transferred to the new building,
that most of the top floor should be given to the general laboratories and
that space should be available for offices and balance rooms. In his letters
to President Hill, Schlundt repeatedly emphasized our concern over the plan
"to split our work which will result in a temporary division of the depart-
ment," "which will militate against the unity and efficiency of the depart-
ment." At that time, they could not forsee that this temporary division
would last for fifty seven years.

In one of President Hill's letters in which he comments on the needs of
both agricultural chemistry and chemistry, he states: "I think that in the
future we are more likely to have chemistry virtually one department."

Schlundt pointed out that with our present rate of expansion, we would
soon be calling again for additional space. He asks: "Should we not then
make plans for a building which will house both agricultural chemistry and
chemistry and that will permit growth of both departments and thus hasten
the day when, as you hope, all chemistry will be in one department".

After a meeting with President Hill, Schlundt reported to the staff on
January 20, 1912 that:

(1) The president recognized the serious import to our department that
a temporary division will entail.

(2) Not enough money will be available for a building which will house
both agricultural chemistry and chemistry.
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(3) In answer to our request that the legislature be asked to make
provision for an addition to be planned for the new building so that chem-
istry could be united, the President pointed out the pressing needs of
other departments.

(4) President Hill plans to name the new building Schweitzer Hall.

(5) Dr. Schlundt again emphasized the gravity of a division of the
chemistry department.

Later in the year, the staff considered the purchase of equipment for
the laboratories on the second floor of Schweitzer Hall and the redistribu-
tion of space in the chemistry building.

The department asked for the appointment of two additional instructors
for 1913-14, to take care of increasing enrollments. In that era, it was
somewhat customary to hire new faculty members at the instructor level and
in time to promote them to professorial rank if their abilities justified
this.

One of these instructors was noteworthy, mainly because of some of his
ideas for his future which came to the attention of President Hill. The
President wrote to Schlundt concerning this man's plan to establish a quasi-
correspondence college, but the records do not indicate whether or not Schlundt
had prior knowledge of this activity.

He had sent out letters requesting contributions to his college on what
was purported to be university stationary, with the label "Chemistry Depart-
ment, University of Missouri”. He had had letter heads of his own made for
the purpose, but the paper and the style of printing were not the same as that
furnished by the university.

President Hill had presented this matter to the Executive Committee of
the Board and they first voted to dismiss him at once but finally agreed to
discontinue his services at the end of the semester. "If, however, he keeps
up his foolishness, his head will be in the basket the moment I get any
evidence of his activity of this sort."

Calvert was absent on leave during 1913-14 for study at Oxford and his
place was taken by Webster N. Jones. He was Calvert's first graduate student,
who he had gone on for further study at Harvard.

General chemistry moved to the second floor of Schweitzer Hall during the
summer of 1913, but rather unexpectedly the enrollment exceeded the desks avail-
able and a waiting list was established. This situation led to severe criticism
by Hi1ll of our apportionment of space in the two buildings.
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He called this "bad management, serious mismanagement". We had allowed
too much space in the old building and we should not have abandoned the
laboratory in the veterinary building. He had hoped that the space in
Schweitzer Hall would take care of our needs for the next six years at least,
but this proved to be nine years. At that time, no seer would have predicted
that sixty two years later the chemistry department would be sharing space in
their new building with agricultural chemistry.

" Schlundt very firmly replied in person and by letter that records on file
in President Hill's office confirmed that every action taken by the chemistry
faculty in this matter had been recommended to him and had received his
approval. Apparently he convinced the President that there was no ground for
charging us with poor management, but he (Hi11) did not say so in words.

We had not received sufficient funds to stock all the desks we had antic-
ipated we would need in Schweitzer Hall, and a possible basement laboratory in
the old building had been declared unfit for instruction of large classes.

For some time, there had been a problem with the ventilating system in
the chemistry building, caused in part by the interruption of the current
for the electrical exhaust fans. This had been reported to E. E. Brown, the
business manager for the university but there had been no action.

Calvert wrote again to Brown and sent a copy of the letter to the
President: "Cannot something be done to improve the ventilation in the chem-
istry buiiding? The electric current driving the fans drops repeatedly and
at the most unexpected times. The consequence is that the condition of the
atmosphere in some of the laboratories frequently becomes really deplorable.
Occasionally in some of the rooms you can hardly see the Tength of the room
and the students complain bitterly and with great justice. My information is
that in the last two years seven men have been carried out unconscious - five
last year and two this. A continuation of this state of affairs and a weak
heart may cause grave complications for the University. Twice in the Tecture
room recently, I was almost knocked out myself from the back flow of chlorine
gas coming from some other room. Someone may be setting free a very obnoxious
gas in one room and have it delivered very unexpectedly into the working space
of another hood, where men may be quite unconscious of any danger."

Brown replied on the 8th, that they would take up this matter shortly
when they consider repairs for all the buildings. On the 13th, Calvert wrote
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again, pointing out that he, (Brown) does not realize the pressing need
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